Perspectives to Doping Substance Use outside Elite Sports in Finland

Mikko Salasuo & Mikko Piispa

Perspectives to Doping Substance Use outside Elite Sports in Finland

Perspectives to Doping Substance Use outside Elite Sports in Finland

Mikko Salasuo & Mikko Piispa

Finnish Youth Research Network and Finnish Youth Research Society Internet publications 52 Cover photo: Jussi Eskola

Lay-out: Sanna Pyykkö / Sopiva Design

Translation: Minna Kalajoki

© Finnish Youth Research Society, Mikko Salasuo & Mikko Piispa Finnish Youth Research Network and Finnish Youth Research Society, publications 123 Internet publications 52

ISBN 978-952-5994-10-0 ISBN (PDF) 978-952-5994-11-7 ISSN-L 1799-9219 ISSN 1799-9219 Unigrafia, Helsinki 2012

Orders:

Finnish Youth Research Network Asemapäällikönkatu 1 FIN-00520 Helsinki, Finland tel. +358 20 755 2653 www.nuorisotutkimusseura.fi/catalog

Contents

Perspectives to Doping Substance Use outside Elite Sports in Finland	7		
Background	8		
Research Data	9		
Method	Ι2		
Modern Form of Old Phenomenon	Ι2		
Frequency of Use	14		
Synthesis of Empirical Research	15		
Ethos of Competition	16		
Pursuit of Profit	17		
Stigma	18		
Medicalization	19		
Increasing Demand for Drugs	2 I		
Controlling Life and Idolizing the Body	22		
Doping as Part of Life Control	23		
"Sacred Body"	24		
From a (Petty) Criminal World to Post-Modern Hedonism:			
How to Take Risks	24		
Various Risks	27		
Same Reason – Different Target	28		
Conclusion	29		
The Social Location of Doping			
References	32		
About the Authors	39		

Perspectives to Doping Substance Use outside Elite Sports in Finland

The debate about *doping use outside elite sports*¹ in Finland got in full swing in September 2007, when the then Minister of Culture and Sports Stefan Wallin expressed his concern about doping use becoming more common outside elite sports. He even questioned whether doping use was becoming a national disease. Wallin's question has remained unanswered, and the debate about doping outside elite sports has relied mostly on stereotypes and false information (e.g. Seppälä & Karila 1996; cf. FST5 2011; MOT 2011)

In 2009, the Ministry of Education and Culture decided to carry out a comprehensive research project examining the size and nature of the doping phenomenon outside elite sports in Finland. This report illustrates, in a compact form, the essential findings of that research project finalized in January 2012 (Salasuo & Piispa 2012). The topic is relatively unknown in Finland (see Kinnunen 2003). Its social location is still being shaped, partly due to the fact that there has been very little public debate about the subject and the amount of research data is still very limited (see nevertheless Karila 2003; Salospohja 2008; Raevuori 2009; Kainulainen 2011).

Taking doping out of context of elite sports means extending the research object from the effects of doping substances to a wider socio-cultural framework of substance use. In this framework, individuals make choices and communicate with one another on the basis of different motives, positions and roles. When studying the issue, the various deliberate plans and pursuit of goals have to be taken into account. These are typically guided by intelligence, emotions, habits, traditions, the example of others and illusion or information about what is expected of human beings. Thus, the following elements have to be studied: the consequences of action, the associations on which the action relies, the attitude of others, the motives of the research subjects and the conventional way to act (see Sulkunen 2003).

Hence, the definition of the research topic is considerably broader in comparison with the traditional medical approach of the Finnish doping

^{1.} See also concept *The use of performance- and image-enhancing drugs/substances (PIED) outside elite sports* (e.g. Bojsen-Møller & Christiansen 2010).



research. In this study, with an aim to gain extensive knowledge to fuel the debate on doping outside elite sports, we aimed at answering the following questions: What is doping when it is not used to enhance one's performance in elite sports? What is the cultural and social framework of doping, how the use of doping and the users themselves relate to the society as a whole, how frequent doping use is, what are the users' motives and how various health considerations are linked to the phenomenon? To sum up, what is the social location of doping outside elite sports?

In this study, the doping phenomenon was cross-studied from the perspectives of as many actors as possible. We had very little prior knowledge of the research object, hiding deep in the shadows of the society. In order to tackle the research challenge we gathered extensive empirical data (see Charmaz 2006). The research approach was similar to Clifford Geertz's (1973) thick description to the extent that, as the analysis progressed, we aimed at a theoretically aware approach.

BACKGROUND

The use of doping² outside elite sports cannot be regarded as deception or breaking the moral values of sports (see e.g. Verroken 2005, 30–31). The international anti-doping rules in sports have been drawn up in order to regulate various sport events, not individual drug use. This distinction is further emphasized by the non-criminalization of doping substance use and possession in Finland. Only production, import, distribution and possession with intent to distribute may lead to criminal proceedings (see Finnish Penal Code, chapter 44; Kainulainen 2011).

Doping use outside elite sports refers to doping use where the primary motive is not success in sports. The motives are, first and foremost, related to one's self and the building of one's own body. Clearly, the benefits of substance

^{2.} In this study, the definition of doping substances of the Finnish Penal Code (chapter 44) is applied. Synthetic anabolic steroids and their derivatives, testosterone and its derivatives, growth hormone, growth factors (e.g. IGF-1), beta2- agonists (e.g. clenbuterol), placenta hormones and anti-estrogens are defined as doping substances. In some cases, other substances such as ephedrine and amphetamine can also be regarded as doping agents.

use are primarily acquired at gyms and can therefore be defined as athletic accomplishment, but doping must be seen merely as a tool for acquiring various bodily and strength-related capitals.

The use of doping outside elite sports is not commonly documented in archives or any other documents. Dopers carefully hide their behaviour, consequently, there is a limited amount of "general knowledge" of the phenomenon among ordinary citizens or even experts. The historian Antti Häkkinen (1995, 18–24) has verbalized the approach of the research objects acting in secrecy as follows: there is a framework based on different research data around the phenomenon and different windows from different perspectives open up into the phenomenon. Each window provides a different view into the research object. A single window provides a very limited view but using several windows leads to a more comprehensive understanding of the contents of the framework. In academic terms, it is about data triangulation (see Denzin 1978).

RESEARCH DATA

The primary research data includes eight different windows into the phenomenon, opening up from different perspectives:

- 1. Key informants
- 2. Expert interviews
- 3. User interviews
- 4. Electronic police data
- 5. Questions posted at Dopinglinkki (Doping Link) -website
- 6. Internet discussion forums and debates about doping in fitness sports
- 7. Population Survey data (National Institute for Health and Welfare and Youth Research Network, 2010) and Youth Barometer data (2009)
- 8. Various micro data from key players around the doping phenomenon (the National Board of Customs and Police, among others)

In 2010 and 2011, altogether 12 dopers, 15 key informants and eight different experts were interviewed. The interviews aimed at achieving as detailed, empirical and local knowledge as possible about the doping phenomenon. The interviews of key informants and experts provided valuable guidelines for researchers and served as complementary representation of the contexts

of doping (see Törrönen 2006).

The doping question was regularly debated with key informants face-toface, by telephone and by e-mail. The informants passed on both requests for interviews and different information. In addition, they had abundant empirical information on the doping use of friends or family members.

Eleven user interviews were recorded and one was noted down. The recorded interviews were transcribed. The user interviews were conducted completely anonymously. All possible identification data were removed during the transcribing.

Professor Timo Seppälä, Jukka Koskelo from the A-Clinic Foundation and altogether six different control authorities from the Police and Customs were interviewed as experts. Valuable informal information which is not traditionally included in any official databases was received during the interviews. Thus, the idea of Steinar Kvale (1996, 100) that a successful expert interview provides the researchers with fresh and even surprising views, was confirmed in the interviews. In this way, the researcher learns and becomes wiser (Kvale 1996, 100).

Primary official data included all doping-related documents of 2009³, collected from the national police database. In practice, the data were reports of an offence. These reports exposed the doping phenomenon from the points of view of police, doping user and the possible delinquency related to individual cases. The final data included 73 different cases and 99 sheets of writing. Altogether 92 persons were named as suspects in the reports of an offence.

The *Dopinglinkki.fi* (*Doping Link*) -website is a counselling service administered by the A-Clinic Foundation for questions related to doping use⁴. The main data consisted of questions sent by the users and their friends and family members as well as the answers given by doctors. By July 1, 2011 93 different questions from 78 different questioners had been posted on the service launched in January 2010. These data opened up perspectives to several health-related questions.

The use of internet discussions as research data has been approved and, consequently, become more widespread in the 21st century. To a researcher, internet discussion forums provide an unrestricted view into the experiences

^{3.} Decision POHA Dnr/2010/277

^{4.} Research permit given by the Committee of Care and Research Ethics of the A-Clinic Foundation, March 23, 2010.

and insights of the doper. These data included lively, all-round discussions on the doping phenomenon and on its nature outside elite sports, in particular. Via these discussions, we had the opportunity already before the study itself, to explore the characteristics of doping use including the substances used, their nicknames, the cyclicality of use i.e. the alternation between course and recovery, gender distinctions, the cultural framework of doping use, the asocial nature of doping use and its aims and goals, among others. On the internet, the dopers publicly shared experiences and meanings, asked for advice, guided others and learnt from them, and adopted certain cultural recipes (Maloff et al. 1979). The internet data included altogether approximately 1000 sheets and more than 120 discussion trees.

Two large surveys were carried out in connection with the research project. In the annual Youth Barometer of 2009, young people between 15–19 years (n=1900) were asked about doping use. In 2010, several doping-related questions were included in the Drug Survey (n=4200) of the National Institute of Health and Welfare⁵. The sample was 3000 Finns aged between 15 and 69, chosen by random sampling. In addition, a complementary sample of 1250 people of the age group 15–39 was chosen. This survey was the first ever population survey about doping use in Finland.

In addition to the data listed above, researchers had access to the micro data of the National Board of Customs, the National Board of Investigation and the Police of Central Finland. These materials were mainly individual notes on doping delinquency in this century.

Any of the data *per se* did not completely explain the use of doping substances outside elite sports. Nevertheless, by combining various data, we could recapitulate various perspectives which enabled a thorough investigation of the phenomenon and, in particular, of the motives behind doping use.

^{5.} THL = the National Institute for Health and Welfare. The surveys of the years 1992–2006 were conducted by Stakes. After the integration between THL and Stakes, the Department of Intoxicants and Addiction of THL has been responsible for the study (see http://www.thl.fi/fi_FI/web/fi/organisaatio/rakenne/osastot/paihteet_ja_riippuvuus).

Метнор

In the study, qualitative and quantitative data were combined. The quantitative data helped us to contextualize the phenomenon in the society. The primary research approach was, nevertheless, qualitative and data-based. This approach can be called problem-driven (Kivinen & Piiroinen 2007). Osmo Kivinen and Tero Piiroinen (ibid.) define the problem-driven research approach as starting off on problems bound to time, place, perspectives and aims. Carefully defined case studies are designed to solve these problems. In this research approach, theories do not serve as a categorical foundation of the study but rather as a reference framework. They are "(...) tools or instruments for conceptualizing and thinking and, *per se*, simple enough for not targeting the structure of the entire reality" (ibid.).

The data-based research approach draws from the methodology of *grounded theory* (Glaser & Strauss 1967). In our study, this approach served mainly as a tool for analyzing data. Models to understand the doping phenomenon were constructed by comparing, discussing and combining various data (Glaser 1978). Our aim was not to generate any universal theory on doping outside elite sports but to conceptualize the phenomenon and identify its conformities (see Glaser 1992).

Filtering different materials through an analysis based on grounded theory raised various theoretical points of reference and questions during the process, e.g. how doping phenomenon in fitness sports had been constructed into a component of social reality, how it relates to medicalization and risk behaviour, how it fits different life courses and lifestyles, what kind of capitals are generated by doping and, what is the meaning of corporality in distinguishing oneself and in identity work. These theoretical questions found their empirical echo in the data gathered. These questions were discussed throughout the study and, eventually, the research findings were returned to various current social and academic debates.

Modern Form of Old Phenomenon

The use of performance-enhancing substances has been documented from very early on. In the beginning, their use has supposedly been related to everyday struggle and medication – not directly to any competition against oneself or

others. On the basis of earlier studies, the history of performance-enhancing substances can be summarized as follows:

- 1. The use of various performance-enhancing substances has been frequent throughout the history of mankind. In this context, sport is a newcomer.
- 2. The advances in medicine have produced smarter ways to boost performance. In particular, last century's wars and the "medical arms race" have played a central role.
- 3. Before the 1960's, the use of drugs to enhance one's athletic performance had mainly been regarded as a natural thing.
- 4. The panic in the Western world in the 1960's and 1970's about using drug ingredients for intoxicating purposes affected the discussion on doping as well
- 5. In the 1970's, the doping question became clearly medicalized. It diverged from other medication and became an issue related to elite sports. The term "doping" began to have contents it is now known for.
- 6. In the 1980's at the latest, the "era of suspicion" began. The ideal of clean sports had to give way to cynicism, despair, longing for past times and surveillance and control of others.
- 7. During the era of suspicion, doping question separated from the misuse of medicaments (for intoxicating and other purposes). Narcophobia and, later, dopingphobia diverged from chemofobia, the latter particularly from the point of view of international sports movement and spectators.
- 8. Moral indignation, in particular, has heated up the debates around the doping phenomenon. Doping has become a good enemy of elite sports.
- 9. Doping moved on from elite sports to fitness sports from the 1970's onwards, first in the United Stated and then elsewhere. (Yesalis et al. 1993; Dimeo 2007; Hemánus 1997; Kaarninen; 2008; Ylikangas 2009; Vettenniemi 2010.)

The roots of doping use outside elite sports can be localized around the body-building boom of the 1970's when also steroids became more widely available. US studies on the subject have been available from the 1980's onwards (e.g. Frankle et al. 1984; McKillop & Ballantyne 1987; Tricker et al. 1989; Yesalis 1993, 60–61). It has been estimated that doping landed at the Finnish gyms at the beginning of the 1990's (Seppälä & Karila 1993; Huhtaniemi 1994; Korte et al. 1996).

FREQUENCY OF USE

According to a review article of Minna Paajanen, planner at the Ministry of Education and Culture, approximately 0–2 per cent of the Finnish adult population have sometimes used doping. Surveys targeted at specific cultural groups give very different scores. The highest indicator scores for doping use have been reported on surveys aimed at prisoners and gym-goers (see e.g. Korte et al. 1996; Salospohja 2008).

According to a few larger studies, most users are men of an average age of approximately 25 years. According to the Health 2000 -survey (Pirkola & Seppälä 2005), 1.2 per cent of men had used anabolic steroids for other purposes than medical treatment. In a survey of the Finnish Student Health Service (Kunttu & Huttunen 2004), less than one per cent of 3153 respondents had sometimes used doping substances. In a corresponding study of 2008 (Kunttu & Huttunen 2008), one per cent of men and 0.2 per cent of women reported having sometimes used doping substances.

Ville Mattila et al. (2009) studied the use of anabolic steroids of the 12–18-year-olds in 1991–2005. The study, carried out on the basis of the data of the Youth Health Behaviour Survey, indicated that 0.3 per cent of the respondents had sometimes tried anabolic steroids. Mattila et al. (ibid.) conclude that experimenting with anabolic steroids has been rare in Finland in 1991–2003. According to a survey of conscripts in 2010 (Mattila et al. 2010), 0.9 per cent of the young men had sometimes tried anabolic steroids. The comprehensive data (n=10396) had been collected in 2001–2007, and the median age of the respondents was 19 years. The results of this survey suggest that the use of anabolic steroids is rare among conscription-aged young men.

Scarcity of questions is the common denominator of past studies. The questions have mainly been related to the use of anabolic steroids (Mattila et al. 2009) or, even more vaguely, to the use of "doping" (Kunttu & Huttunen 2004; 2008). Results of surveys aimed at specific target groups cannot be generalized to the population as a whole, and online research is problematic due to the selectivity of respondents (cf. Salospohja 2008).

Two surveys were carried out in connection with this study. In a population survey of the National Institute of Health and Welfare, the following substances were named as doping agents: testosterone, anabolic steroids, growth hormone, clenbuterole and ephedrine. One per cent of the respondents reported having used one of these at some point of their lives — mainly anabolic steroids.

Only a few respondents reported on having used them during the past year. The fact that the use of doping was much more frequent among males than females supports the observations of the previous study, i.e. that the use of doping substances is mostly a male tool for shaping the body. Of the 1900 respondents of the Youth Survey, less than 0.5 per cent reported having tried or used doping (see also Myllyniemi 2009, 93–98.)

The population surveys listed above indicate insignificant doping use. The survey of the National Institute of Health and Welfare suggests that, in proportion to the population, some 30,000–40,000 Finns have sometimes tried or used doping substances but that active users are very few. The surveys indicate that political and medical concerns (e.g. Seppälä & Karila 1996) of an "epidemic" are, for the time being, unjustified. At the population level, doping is a marginal phenomenon in Finland.

Synthesis of Empirical Research

In the qualitative part of the study, four user groups were defined on the basis of the data on doping use. The typology is based on the motives and objectives of doping use: 1) athletics and recreational sports, 2) bodybuilding and appearance, 3) professional capital and 4) delinquency and underworld. Naturally, the groups overlap to some extent and are to be understood as ideal type constructions (Weber 2002).

The typology of user groups and the diverse motives led to the examination of broader theoretical frameworks behind fitness doping and, thus, provided elements to understand the social location of doping use outside elite sports.

- 1. The use of doping among athletics and non-professional competing athletes is determined by the logic of competition and personal gain. Doping is a tool for better results, as it is in elite sports muscle is an important capital in this group.
- 2. The control and cult of body, made possible by medicalization, determines the behaviour of the *appearance and bodybuilding oriented*.
- 3. For those striving for *professional capital*, the motive for doping use is utilitarian and often also masculine. Muscles and strength acquired by bodybuilding improve the opportunities to succeed but also to renew the culture. Appearance workers can be seen as the prisoners of esthetic ideals.

•

4. In the *criminal* culture doping contributes to very specific, self-defined norms (Häkkinen 1998). In the underworld, doping is a tool for acquiring muscle and menace and, consequently, social capital. Doping, with its mild sanctions, represents a minor risk to criminals (e.g. Kainulainen 2011).

ETHOS OF COMPETITION

In competition, doping is a tool for generating benefits and contributing to achieving success. An athlete's attitude to doping is, thus, pragmatic: he uses it for achieving the set targets. In elite sports, the goal is maximum performance or, optimally, a win. Doping use outside elite sports does not result in gold medals or stepping on the highest podium. To many, it is a tool for success in arenas where bodily capital has a special value (e.g. Kinnunen 2001a; Puuronen 2004).

Competitive mentality lies behind doping use both in elite sports and outside elite sports. At the level of an individual, it is about success in recreational sports or, more frequently, in the various social and cultural arenas of everyday life.

At present, the ethos of competition is deeply embedded in our cultural structures (Simola 2001; D'Angelo & Tamburrini 2010). Western culture encourages individuals to success and excellence. Success and winning have become nearly synonyms; only the best has really succeeded. A doper's rival is often an abstract "something" but it is still there. This "something" is the *ethos of excellence*, the plague of modern society which combines the values of excellence, efficiency and profitability (Simola 2001).

This way of thinking manifested in the interviews and in the internet data. Bodily accomplishment has become so important to many, that it is widely seen as a prerequisite for good life. In the ethos of excellence, also those using doping for enhancing their looks, share a competitive motive: perfecting oneself, achieving the best possible performance and excelling oneself lead to feelings of success.

As there is no indicator for excelling oneself, the bodily competition is an eternal project, an orientation inspired by the prolonged youth. The ticking of the biological clock can be slowed down but not stopped (e.g. Hoikkala 1993; Ketokivi 2004). This approach connects doping to freedom of choice and individualism. Doping as a free choice is a personal risk of modern times,

the consequences of which are borne by the individual. In the doping-related lifestyle, prolonged youth is not seen as an easy choice but as tough and even masochistic labour for enhancing one's physical performance. One of our interviewees characterized doping as a "spring of youth".

Pursuit of Profit

Doping can be helpful in occupations where a massive, frightening and/or strong habitus is a valuable asset. Such branches include, among others, security services, building and organized crime where doping can generate not only financial but also social capital. Again, doping contributes to success in the "everyday race" (Simola 2001).

Those using fitness doping for professional purposes are often tied up with the strong culture of masculinity where brute force and survival are idealized (e.g. Thiel 2007). This group can be characterized by the traditional culture of "masculine bluster" — not, however, in that post-modern sense as imposed by television in recent years. Behind the doping bluster lies something more traditional; something that originates in the Finnish forests and fields and moves on to concrete, urban construction sites. Physical work takes its toll, and doping substances are available to ease the burden. They represent strength, endurance and faster recovery; qualities which humankind has yearned for throughout its existence.

Nevertheless, there is a contradiction between the bluster and doping. Doping is a shortcut in culture where excellence, efficiency and profitability without dirty tricks define the human standard (Simola 2001). Doping is an "unfair" way to achieve excellence. As unfair excellence generates shame, doping use is hidden from others. Satu Lidman (2011, 38) aptly summarizes the shame as follows: "A person feels that he has done something he knows is wrong and, thus, he has acted against his own principles and the image of himself he wants to give to others". Strength acquired in a natural way is admired, and this is how it is portrayed, but muscles acquired by doping are seen as artificial – even as weakness.

Stigma

Dopers are bound to suffer from the stigma connected with doping use (Goffman 1963). Nutt et al. (2010) assess the harms of various chemical substances to the user himself and to his immediate surroundings. Anabolic steroids rate sixteenth of 20 substances as to their total harm, behind khat and before ecstasy. Alcohol, cannabis and tobacco, for example, were rated more harmful.

The harms of anabolic steroids and, more widely, of doping are often as much social as health-related. As an example, doping use is frequently interpreted as negative deviance, "dirty" behaviour and recklessness (e.g. Monaghan 2001, 1). Behind this labeling lies the portrayal of the deviance related to doping use in a stereotypic fashion in the mass media. This does not result in the understanding of the true nature of the phenomenon (e.g. Cohen 1972, 177–178).

The stigma refers to, above all, social assumptions, labeling and shame. Erving Goffman (1963) simplifies the stigma by suggesting that we all have certain assumptions when meeting people. By using Pierre Bourdieu's (1984) terminology, we can conclude that the first impression of people is often defined by their habitus. In addition, the first impression is shaped by social factors – e.g. integrity – and by more formal factors such as occupation or education (Goffman 1963, 12–13). These expectations can be regarded as normative and unconscious. However, if there is something deviant in an unknown person we perceive him different. He is easily stigmatized – particularly if his deviance is negative and physical. As for dopers, the deviance is often an "unnaturally" muscular body. Some dopers are afraid that their habitus reveals the muscular, doped body hiding underneath. Consequently, many dopers share the view that "the others would nevertheless not understand".

The stigma of doping can be compared with that of intoxicants. Intoxicant use is more acceptable than doping use – although the penal code disagrees, except for alcohol and tobacco (see Hakkarainen et al. 2011). Intoxication is acceptable when regarded as temporary hedonism and escapism; everybody has the right to sometimes escape from the routine (Seppälä & Salasuo 2001). A doper, on the other hand, has made a conscious choice to become different, to something which he is not. He is not labeled poor but outright stupid. Intoxicant user may say "this is how I am" whereas the doper has to stress that "this is not what I am". There is no return to "purity" to somebody once

indulged in doping (see Goffman 1963, 125–1306).

Professional and fitness athletes alike are labeled as dopers even if caught only once. It is different with intoxicant use; it is acceptable to boast about drinking spirits. Even the misuse of drugs can increase sub-cultural capital in certain groups (Thornton 1995) but a doper cannot, may not and do not want to say that he is already in his sixth steroid course.

Contrary to intoxicants, doping use usually takes place in closed circles and its goals are individual. Intoxicant use is, by nature, social and often requires a certain social setting (Zinberg & Harding 1979). The social nature of doping use is restricted to private locker room conversations, to the informative exchanges of experiences and, perhaps, in its most intimate form, to portioning doping substances to fellow users. In some cases, doping use might be a habit of a certain group of friends but is does not otherwise determine any group or culture. One can be a bouncer or go to a gym without using doping. There is a clear difference with regard to, for example, recreational drug use (Salasuo 2004a). Lee Monaghan (2001, 4) associates fitness doping, along the lines of Giddens (1991) and Beck (1992), mainly to the construction of one's individual identity and the reflective self. These are personal projects which are usually kept secret from others.

MEDICALIZATION

Medicalization is widely considered as a phenomenon of the so called post-modern era. At the outset and in general, the concept defined by Irving Zola (1972) referred to the dominance of medical authority in the society. According to Zola (ibid.), the limits of health and illness are constantly stretching ever further into people's everyday life. To an ever greater extent, drugs and medicine are being harnessed to the benefit of the human body (Verroken 2005, 30–31), and medicine is expected to provide an explanation and solution to most everyday phenomena (e.g., Tuomainen et al. 1999).

^{6.} Goffman (1963) suggests that stigmatized persons develop various techniques; coverup of deviance being a typical example. Persons who are aware of the attitudes of others may take the trouble to cover up their deviance. Cover-up generates "normality" and may facilitate social interaction. These persons adopt various practices to hide their deviance in social situations.

In the 1990's at the latest, medicalization was complemented by commercial consumerism and a strong drug industry which started to productize health in a determined way (e.g. Tuomainen et al. 1999; Verroken 2005, 30–31). This could be seen, for example, in the increasing demand for the so called comfort drugs (Toiviainen 2007, 39; Newman 2008, 326). The arrival of doping in Finland and the "technologization" of drug use can be seen as part of this process (Rantala 2002; see also Keane 2009).

Medicalization is linked to doping in two ways. First one is closely related to the stigma discussed above; it is the thesis of professional dominance, i.e. the expert authority of medicine and the labeling of doping users, partly as a result of the constructions of the former. This is illustrated, for example, in the exaggerated estimates as to the frequency of use and the volumes consumed (cf. Huhtaniemi 1994; Hartiala 1997; Karila 2003; Leppäharju 2011; see also Salospohja 2008; Tanninen 2008). The authority of experts has aimed at defining doping as a social problem and social deviance.

Along with medicalization, deviances are easily labeled as illnesses (e.g. Newman 2008, 245–246), and doctors have the obligation to offer treatment to an "illness" (Conrad [1976] 2006). Doping can be seen as "self-care" created by medicine but ran away from its authority. It is regarded, almost without questioning, as a negative phenomenon requiring action. For example, doping has been associated with the perverted body image (Raevuori 2009). Bodybuilders and musclemen are labeled as a deviant group, with certain physical and psychological stereotypes. According to Lee Monaghan (2001, 2), examples of the most typical labels of musclemen include an automatic assumption about doping use, narcissistic personality and mental instability – even dangerousness to other people. As another example, he refers to the controversial concept of "roid-rage" (Monaghan 2001, 14–19).

In addition to the authority of experts, fitness doping is associated with the second dimension of medicalization: individuals have taken their bodies, or in a wider sense, their entire lives as their lifetime project, to be shaped with the resources of medicine. This supports the perception that an individual is personally responsible for his choices, risk management and the search of solutions with the help of expert knowledge (e.g. Waddington 2000; Verroken 2005, 30–31). It is not a one-way process where the power of medicine would be applied to "obedient bodies". On the contrary, modern people are "contemplating bodies", actively exploiting the information produced by medicine (Lahelma 2003). Along with medicalization, active individuals are

offered a wide spectrum of modern medicine where chemical technologies serving individual interests and needs can be sourced from.

This is one of the reasons for the failure of the social control of drugs, doping and other similar phenomena. The location of different substances in the contemporary categories of control policy is usually defined by other factors than individual health risks (see e.g. Christie & Bruun 1986; Hakkarainen 1992; Ylikangas 2009). Contemplating bodies are exploiting, instead of norm guidance, the knowledge resources provided by media society when assessing potential risks and harms (e.g. Puuronen 2006) and the legislation does not motivate people to act in a desired way. The use of informal medication, outside official health care, has grown significantly since the 1980's. This reflects the collision of norms in the quickly evolving society. (Tuomainen et al. 1999, 21, 39–47.)

Increasing Demand for Drugs

With doping and drugs alike, it is a question of drug ingredients whose use is regulated in various ways. Along with more widespread drug use and their increasing availability, the social location of various legal and illegal drugs can change very quickly (e.g. Ryynänen et al. 2004). The "misuse" of drugs for various intoxicating or body shaping purposes is an almost unavoidable side-effect of medicalization. In the framework of post-modern thinking, people will not resign themselves to "obedient bodies".

Individuals are increasingly defining the limits of health and illness themselves. They exploit the wide range of remedies offered by the medical industry on the basis of their individual needs and desires, whether it is a question about doping, drugs or something else. This trend is in line with the increasing consumption of prescription comfort drugs, used to enhance the well-being or performance of mostly "healthy" individuals. Drugs to prevent hair loss, to combat grief reactions, to promote weight loss or learning, or to tackle erection problems are examples of these (Klaukka 1999; Newman 2008, 326).

The demand for chemical technologies is on the increase at the same time as working life based on knowledge, know-how, creativity and performance seems to be progressing at an ever speedier pace (Lucke et al. 2011). The ethos of excellence nurtures the incessant development of self and worshipping one's body may often lead to financial capital (Tuomainen et al. 1999, 92–102).

Consequently, not only anti-depressants and drugs but also doping can be advantageous to some individuals in the hectic working life.

According to Timo Klaukka (1999), the growing interest in medical drugs and their breakthrough represent medicalization in the actual sense of the term. Add to this the growing responsibility for one's own health, the image of individuals as masters of their own lives and the appearance pressures created by the imagery of popular culture, and the result is an individual drawing from self-medication, in one way or another (see e.g. Järvi 2011).

CONTROLLING LIFE AND IDOLIZING THE BODY

Medicalization produces the tools and enables action but objectives are defined on a cultural basis. "Body is the bearer and giver of meanings" Taina Kinnunen (2001b) writes in her book *Nuori ruumis* (*Young Body*). Various bodily ideals are appreciated in our culture. These include qualifiers such as height and weight, hair colour, skin smoothness, look and certain body parts such as feet, buttocks or breast, or clothing. Corporality is communication, telling something essential about the person and about his attitudes towards himself and others (Välimaa 2001). Gym-goers are striving for a "perfect" body (Kinnunen 2001a, 26) which is defined in relation to that individual's social reality and resonance.

In the gym context, the ideal of the perfect body is defined by a certain group and can, therefore, be regarded as social capital among the members of that group. It can be seen as part of the group identity among the gymgoers and restricted to a special small group, but it can also be seen as capital in a wider social context — in the ethos of excellence (i.a. Putnam 2000). According to Pierre Bourdieu (1986), social capital is related to an individual's memberships in the networks of like-minded, mutually appreciative individuals and organizations. Bourdieu's (1986) symbolic capital refers to habitus which is defined by, among others, internalized ways to behave and act. They are manifest in styles, tastes, values and habits. Habitus is guiding behavior via differences and differentiations and, thus, defines the social identity and produces a certain lifestyle. Consequently, doping use can be defined as a phenomenon of different lifestyle communities (Maffesoli 1996).

When doping is connected to body discontent and body image disorders (e.g. Pope et al. 2000; Monaghan 2001, 25; Raevuori 2009) it is, at the worst,

interpreted as addiction. Such research approach does not acknowledge doping as a conscious choice, as a tool for acquiring positive capital and as a choice of lifestyle (i.a. Keane 2009). Helen Keane (ibid.) demonstrates the inconsistencies between various approaches in the title of her article *Sport, Health and Steroids: Contradiction or Ethical Self-Formation?* In the same way as Viagra, alcohol, cannabis or tobacco, also doping use can strengthen one's identity and status in certain social networks (Keane 2009), or as Taina Kinnunen (2001b) writes: "Gym underworld's inside perceptions of an esthetic body were more important to them than the opinions of the general public".

Doping as Part of Life Control

It is a question of life control methods (Roos 1988) and the control of lifestyles (Toivonen & Räsänen 2004; Sulkunen 2009). In this context, the notion of the strategies of life politics (Giddens 1991) refers to the same. In the post-modern era, control becomes ever more individual and individuals create various mechanisms for self-control. Doping is, thus, one of the ways to control one's own life. At the beginning of the training period, lifestyle becomes rigorously controlled. Between the training periods, there might be long periods without any significant investments in the body. This leads to a cyclical lifestyle where rigorous self-discipline is followed by loosening the grid – a hedonistic "time out" earned by hard training.

Repetitive behaviour, such as hard training, as part of lifestyle creates a sense of integrity, control, continuity and safety of self (Giddens 1992). This is a way to compensate for the perishing great narratives and traditions, and the sense of emptiness, insecurity and detachment resulting from that. In the life-course, this kind of lifestyle is a result of human activeness and various shaping processes (Vilkko 2000). According to Pekka Sulkunen (1987), repetitive behaviour is a modern invention, the flip side of an individualized society. Obsessive training and the discipline needed in it are modern techniques of self (see Sulkunen 1997, 214).

"SACRED BODY"

This concept can be taken further along the lines of Émile Durkheim (1960), as Taina Kinnunen (2001a) has made in her aptly named book *Pyhät bodarit* (*Holy Bodybuilders*). According to Kinnunen (ibid.), body is sacred to a bodybuilder; it is the totem and object of worship of an individual. The use of doping always aims at shaping the body, regardless of whether the goals are related to bodybuilding or not. The body is sacred and it is cherished in cycles. When body is prioritized, rigorous rules determine life during the training and course period: training schedules, a strict diet, abstaining from alcohol, the portioning of doping substances. These rules form small-scale, everyday rites which divide life into distinct sections.

The sacred body is protected and respected, and various taboos exist. When the toil determined by prohibitions ends, it is time for a feast. The fruits of bodybuilding become ripe. Body is still sacred and a source of pride, but less restrictions and more permissive rituals are applied to it. Body is exhibited, the shirt is taken off, and the holiness of the sacred body is further strengthened.

Nevertheless, Durkheim's (1960) "subject matter is true, strength is community" is only partly true. The ideals and totem are certainly determined by the community, and as Durkheim (ibid.) knew, the church of the believers is not formed by an individual but by the community. Still, there is something very lonely in body worship. Durkheim's (ibid.) notion could be expressed as "subject matter is true, strength is an individual", almost literally, in the case of doping. Religiousness is given new manifestations in the whirlwind of individualism. The significance of the experience of a sense of community may fade but life needs ritual rhythms and something stable. Body worship in its discipline, seasoned by doping, offers an almost ideal manifestation of this (Weber 2002).

From a (Petty) Criminal World to Post-Modern Hedonism: How to Take Risks

In the modern society, life is risky, as all individual choices lead to responsibility (Bauman 1991, 209). With doping, risks may be health-related, social, financial or criminal. The decision in order to act and the act itself are always preceded by risk awareness and risk assessment, weighing the pros and cons

(i.a. Giddens 1991, 112–113). Risk assessment is done before the decision of using doping and, thus, risk taking is the core of doping use. Somebody drawing from health sociology could say that risk assessment is done on the basis of one's health sense (Hoikkala et al. 2005) – by exploiting individual social and cultural capitals related to health (Hoikkala 2009).

Using doping substances is always related to some degree of risk. Primarily, it relates to health; although not all users experience health harms, some do report them. In addition to health risks, doping use is a social risk. In a society with hostile attitudes towards doping, a doper can be easily stigmatized. Thirdly, doping can be a criminal risk if the user commits illegal import or dealing with doping substances. Fourthly, doping is a financial risk: on the black market, the user can waste his money on inactive substances. In conclusion, before initiating doping use, the potential user has to assess various risk factors (see Becker 1963).

Santalahti et al. (2007, 95) write about elite athletes using doping, but their findings apply to all doping users⁷:

- Threats are regarded minor
- 2. Benefits are regarded significant
- 3. Attitudes towards doping use are neutral
- 4. The control authority of rules is regarded negligible
- 5. Attitudes towards doping use are favourable in the individual's reference group
- 6. Personal factors are favourable

In the listing above, contemporary attitudes towards risks and, on the other hand, towards "universal" truths are clearly visible (i.a. Tulloch & Lupton 2003). Experts are trusted less in the risk assessment, whereas the individual's own role as an interpreter of health is emphasized (i.a. Puuronen 2004). People are aware of the fact that not even authorities agree on harms and risks. Furthermore, other factors than sincere concern about the well-being of other people appear in the background of the doping question (e.g. Hemánus 1997). Thus, users might regard experts' warnings and risk assessments as strange, incorrect or biased (Tulloch & Lupton 2003, 2–3).

^{7.} Changes by authors.

The second factor on the list of Santalahti et al. (2007) is the benefits of use. The basic idea behind doping use is that doping substances are used in order to reach certain goals which cannot be reached otherwise. In the light of this study, doping users regard the benefits as significant and quick. The third factor relates to morale. Thus, an individual having no moral obstacles might consider doping use. The moral obstacle can, however, develop quickly by the opposition of friends or family members, e.g. the user's spouse. Fourth point, control, does not present any major obstacle to doping use in Finland, as the use of doping substances is not criminalized.

The fifth factor having an influence in whether or not start doping use is the immediate surroundings of the individual (Santalahti ym. 2007). Doping use is usually started by the guidance of training buddy or other acquaintance. Values and attitudes are mostly inherited from one's immediate surroundings and they determine the objectives of doping and training (Maloff et al. 1979). At the same time the entire lifestyle changes. The sixth factor is related to personal factors. Adventurous people have been reported having a greater tendency to start doping use (Denham 2009). The same applies to individuals whose thinking Santalahti et al. (2007) describe negative. If they do not reach the set goals they blame themselves, their body or, for example, their weak will. Also individuals with body discontent or body image disorders in the background of their doping use can be reckoned in this group. An extreme example of personal factors is body dysmorphic disorder, an illness clearly fulfilling the criteria of psychiatric disorders (see Raevuori 2009).

We can summarize the sequence of risk assessment outlined above as follows: a person has socially and culturally set objectives which he believes can be reached by using doping, he has no moral obstacles to doping use and he believes that the possible harms can be controlled. Thus, the risk to reach the objectives is worth taking. Similar risk assessment continues throughout his user career. With continued use, the pros and cons of doping use become easier to assess and reassess, and the nature of use is modified according to regular risk assessment results. It is most important that benefits equal objectives and that harms are regarded as controllable (see Becker 1963).

Various Risks

Doping users are diverse, as could be seen in the previous typology of user groups. Risk penetrates these user groups in slightly different ways. In the (petty) criminal subculture doping substances are a symbolic tool and a habit of some degree, a subcultural style. In this group, doping is one risk factor among many. Other lifestyle factors are more probable to lead to, for example, a premature death: traffic accidents, drunken fighting and other confrontations, homicides and hard drugs.

Also in the masculine work culture, doping is often regarded as a relatively small risk (e.g. Thiel 2007). Potential harms are tolerated because they belong to that lifestyle. There is no moaning about trivial things and it is better to be big than small. Dopers using substances to acquire professional capital take another risk, in addition to health risk. As noted above, the members of this group often seem to be the most "normal citizens" among the doping users. One of their greatest risks is the revelation of their doping use and the following stigma.

Risk taking among those whose use doping to enhance their looks may include interesting features penetrating their whole lifestyle. Risk taking is an integral part of their culture and guarantees their lifestyle; a kind of reaching out to eternal youth. These people are the outcomes of post-modern individualism, the James Bonds of casinos and nightclubs. Modern medicine offers them plenty of solutions to intoxicate themselves, to perform better, to rest and relax, to build muscles, to lose weight and so on. They feel at home in the medicalized world while building their unique self and looking for adventures.

How does such an esthete master risks? Information on doping agents is received from friends and from the internet, and even from medical experts on counseling services such as *Dopinglinkki*, or from a personal doctor. These users look for information about the characteristics of substances, the optimal course for themselves, about how to restore hormone levels and about harms and training. When starting a course, they are well aware of its benefits and harms. Their use is probably as controlled as it can be without medical supervision.

For these users, the results of doping, whether in looks or strength, have to appear natural. A hero in the era of individualism does not admit being a swindler. Instead, he publicly tells how he is boosting his good heredity by active training. The revelation of doping use would be a catastrophe. As one informant concluded: "All want to look at the mass monster but nobody

wants to be his buddy". Exceptions confirm the rule, however: medicalization has broken through so strongly that not all users see any reason to hide their doping use.

The risk of bodybuilders and fitness athletes relates to ethics in sport. Their morale is flowing to and from the world of competitive elite sports. To lose one's reputation as a clean (fitness) athlete is a serious risk. If their secret is revealed, their strength and performance becomes false in the eyes of others.

Same Reason – Different Target

The use of doping in elite sports, with positive tests and celebrated heroes, dominates the debate to the extent that it also affects doping use outside elite sports – this is called social contagion. Nevertheless, this is not only blurring the field of vision but also provides one interesting perspective.

An athlete aiming at the top is well aware of risks. When starting a career in professional sports, competitive instinct takes over other values and everything else may be left aside. Thus, doping is not the only risk to take in the world of sports. As all other doping users, also elite athletes have to balance risks, harms and benefits. They have to reflect on what is valuable in life and what they want to aim at. The health risks of an elite athlete might be as smaller than those of an independent doping user who uses doping to boost his looks, but other risks are all the bigger. By using doping, the elite athlete risks his reputation, career and living.

Bodybuilders and fitness athletes might turn to doping for partly similar reasons. They have sacrificed an important part of their lives to sports and they are possessed by competitive instinct as well. They simply want to perform better even with no prizes in their reputation or earnings in sight. They are, in fact, the true personifications of the competitive instinct in the era of individualism. The (post) modern world admires its winners and heroes, placing even the everyday life on a running track. The fastest and the smartest cross the finishing line first (and head for new races) while some never even reach the finishing line.

Conclusion

What is the contribution of this study to our knowledge of doping and its use outside elite sports? The research data is not exhaustive but offers a wide perspective to a very little known phenomenon.

The research provided unparalleled information on the lifetime prevalence of doping use in Finland. On the basis of this study and previous research we can fairly accurately conclude that approximately one per cent of the Finnish adult population has experimented doping substances at some point in their lives. Consequently, we can conclude that doping in Finland is, thus far, a minor phenomenon which in no way can be regarded as a national disease or epidemic.

As described in the study, modern times provide a fertile ground for the spreading of various chemical technologies. The so called ethos of excellence drives people to perfect themselves and to aim at the maximum. This applies not only to professional life but also with regard to one's body. People are striving for success regardless of the means and risks. At the same time, health behaviour is becoming more individualized. Consequently, modern times are characterized by health choices defined by individual ambitions.

Information on health risks and harms related to fitness sports doping is more widely available than ever, thanks to the internet. The risk analysis of doping use and its potential harms is done on the basis of the individual health sense of the doper. The contemporary ethos makes people ignore potential health risks and grasp various performance-enhancing methods (Koski 2005).

Doping is, above all, a tool. It is used to accumulate various forms of capital. Some users are motivated by the possibility to gain strength and muscles for the professional life; others are striving for success in the eyes of the opposite sex. The common denominator of varying motives is the striving for bodily capital which, in turn, is believed to result in the accumulation of social, cultural and professional capital — with varying degrees of importance. This is one of the key results of this study. Doping is not used for the substances themselves.

Risks and potential health harms are linked to doping. However, in the light of this study, they do not appear in Finland to the extent medical research suggests. Health harms linked to fitness doping share similar features with cannabis harms advanced in the 1960's and 1970's. In both phenomena, harms related to the consumption of very important quantities are presented as if they applied to all users (see Salasuo 1999). This leads to a situation, from the

point of view of preventive policies that users do not believe in the information supplied by authorities. Consequently, cultural instructions arise and they are passed on from one user generation to another. Today, they circulate in the internet, in particular. Cultural instructions are often very precise and can effectively prevent harm. Their handicap is, nevertheless, that they cannot offer help with acute health risks. In addition, many users do not fully trust them and prefer to ask doctors for advice.

THE SOCIAL LOCATION OF DOPING

The social location of doping was deliberated at the beginning of this study, with the conclusion that it is still being shaped. It is evident that this study contributes to that shaping process. Our aim is not to indicate a certain location but, rather, to supply elements to academic and public debates.

The dismantling of myths and false beliefs contributes to the determination of doping's social location. Discussing doping without strong emotional reactions is often difficult as the concept is so charged and tense. Everybody has an opinion on doping, also those who know very little about it. Many arguments have become traditional wisdom even without being based on research. Some of the most obvious examples are the book of Dick Pound, the former president of WADA, *Inside Dope* (2006) and, in Finland, for example *Urheilun kahdet kasvot* (*The Two Faces of Sport*) of Kaarlo Hartiala (1997). Both books put forward arguments without any substance as facts.

In fitness sports, doping has usually been observed from the medical perspective – fitness doping is viewed first and foremost as a health problem. Several medical studies have been conducted on the subject. Other angles have been overshadowed by the health paradigm. Without understating the health perspective, this survey offers new insights into the phenomenon. A valid question is, whether the flaws and distortions related to the ethos of excellence have been forgotten and engulfed by the health paradigm? From the user's point of view, it is often a question of life control and self-discipline.

Several media (e.g. HS, September 12, 2011) have reported on doping offences having become more common between 2003 and 2009. As suggested above, reporting on statistics only does not tell, in this case, anything about the phenomenon itself. New, online purchasing channels represent one reason for the growing figures. Furthermore, the statistics of control authorities can

never accurately illustrate the frequency of use. The actual significance and contents of such news are never opened up to ordinary citizens. When reporting on offences, the tone of the news is often negative. Thus, a piece of news can present a textbook example of the construction of social problems. Police is communicating on the increasing number of offences but to the reader's eyes, it is a question of a growing problem. As suggested in the paragraph about doping offences, this leads to an incorrect understanding of the nature of the doping phenomenon as a whole.

When determining the social location of doping, positive effects should be taken into account as well. Regular physical activity, training, rigorous diet and abstaining from intoxicants are central elements of any doper's lifestyle. All of them are lifestyle choices whose importance is continuously emphasized in the debate around public health. If such disciplined lifestyle is complemented by small quantities of doping agents, the benefits are often seen to outweigh the harms – at least this is how the dopers think.

In conclusion, doping outside elite sports is an exceptional and challenging social phenomenon. Thus, it is very positive that comprehensive analytical and preventive actions have been taken before a wider moral panic. It is desirable that the existing approach around the phenomenon, based on cooperation between authorities and research, continue.

References

- Bauman, Zygmunt (1991) Modernity and Ambivalence. N.Y: Cornell University Press.
- Beck, Ulrich (1992) Risk Society. Towards a new modernity. London: Sage.
- Becker, Howard (1963) Outsiders. Studies in the sociology of deviance. London: The Free Press of Glencoe.
- Bojsen-Møller, Jens & Christiansen, Ask Vest (2010) Use of performance- and imageenhancing substances among recreational athletes: a quantitative analysis of inquiries Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports 20:6, 861–867.
- Bourdieu, Pierre (1986) The forms of capital. In John G. Richardsson (eds.) *Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education*. New York: Greenwood Press, 241–258.
- Charmaz, Kathy (2006) Constructing grounded theory: a practical guide through qualitative analysis. London: Sage.
- Christie, Nils & Kettil, Bruun (1986) *Hyvä vihollinen: huumausainepolitiikka Pohjolassa* [Good enemy: drug politics in the Nordic Countries]. Espoo: Weilin+Göös.
- Cohen, Stanley (1972) Folk devils and moral panics. The creation of mods and rockers. London: MacGibbon & Kee.
- Conrad, Peter (2006 [1976]) Identifying hyperactive children: the medicalization of deviant behaviour. England: Ashgate.
- D'Angelo, Carlos & Tamburrini, Claudio (2010) Addict to win? A different approach to doping. *Journal of medical ethics* 36:11, 700–707.
- Denham, Bryan (2009) Determinats of anabolic-androgenic steroids risk perception in youth population. *Journal of health and social behavior* 50:3, 277–292.
- Denzin, Norman K. (1978) Strategies of multiple triangulation. In Norman Denzin (eds.) *The research act in sociology: a theoretical introduction to sociological method.* New York, McGraw-Hill, 297–313.
- Dimeo, Paul (2007) A history of drug use in sport: 1876-1976: beyond good and evil. New York: Routledge.
- Durkheim, Émile (1960 [1912]) Les formes élémentaires de la vie religieuse: le système totémique en Australie. [The elementary forms of religious life: the totem system in Australia]. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Frankle, Mark & Cicero, Gerard & Payne, John (1984) Use of androgenic anabolic steroids by athletes. *Journal of the American medical association* 252:4, 482.
- FST5 2011. Spotlight: Dopa dig stor och stark [Dope yourself big and strong]. Magazine program. Viewed 6.10.2011 on Yle FST 5.
- Geertz, Clifford (1973) The interpretation of cultures: selected essays. New York: Basic Books.
- Glaser, Barney & Strauss, Anselm (1967) The discovery of grounded theory. Strategies for qualitative research. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Glaser, Barney (1978) Theoretical sensitivity: advances in the methodology of grounded theory. California: Sociology Press.
- Glaser, Barney (1992) Basics of grounded theory analysis. California: Sociology Press.

- Giddens, Anthony (1991) Modernity and Self-Identity. Self and society in the late modern age. Cambridge: Polity.
- Giddens, Anthony (1992). The consequences of modernity. Cambridge: Polity.
- Goffman, Erving (1963) Stigma. Notes on the management of spoiled identity. New York: Prentice Hall.
- Hakkarainen, Pekka (1992) Suomalainen huumekysymys. Huumausaineiden yhteiskunnallinen paikka Suomessa toisen maailmansodan jälkeen [Finnish drug question. Place of illegal drugs in the Finnish society after the WWII]. Helsinki: The Finnish foundation for alcohol studies.
- Hakkarainen, Pekka & Metso, Leena & Salasuo, Mikko (2011) Hamppuikäpolvi, sekakäyttö ja doping. Vuoden 2010 huumekyselyn tuloksia [Weed generation, multi-substance abuse and doping. Results on the drug survey of 2010]. *Yhteiskuntapolitiikka* 76:4, 397–412.
- Hartiala, Kaarlo (1997) *Urheilun kahdet kasvot: terve sielu terveessä ruumiissa vai rahan ja dopingin vallassa* [Two faces of sports: healthy soul in healthy body or controlled by money and doping]. Huhmari: Karprint.
- Hemánus, Pertti (1997) *Doping, hyvä vihollinen* [Doping, a good enemy]. Jyväskylä: University library publications.
- Hoikkala, Tommi (1993) *Katoaako kasvatus, himmeneekö aikuisuus* [Vanishing upbringing, dimming adulthood?]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus
- Hoikkala, Tommi & Hakkarainen, Pekka & Laine, Sofia (eds.) (2005) Beyond health literacy. Youth cultures, prevention and policy. Helsinki: Finnish youth research society.
- Hoikkala, Tommi (2009) Tutkijat varusmiespalveluksessa [Researchers in the army]. In
 Tommi Hoikkala & Mikko Salasuo & Anni Ojajärvi: *Tunnetut sotilaat. Varusmiehen kokemus ja terveystaju* [Known soldiers. Conscript's experience and health sense].
 Helsinki: Finnish youth research society, Publications 94, 28–47.
- Huhtaniemi, Ilpo (1994) Anabolisten steroidien käyttöön liittyvät terveysvaarat [Health hazards of the use of anabolic steroids]. Helsinki: *Duodecim* 110:10, 1020–1028.
- Häkkinen, Antti (1995) *Rahasta vaan ei rakkaudesta: prostituutio Helsingissä 1867–1939* [For money but not for love: prostitution in Helsinki in 1867–1939]. Helsinki: Otava.
- Häkkinen, Antti (1998) Helsinkiläinen alaluokka ja alamaailma [Underclass and underworld in Helsinki]. In Otto Mattsson ja Milka Sunell (eds.) *Pääkaupungin kuva: Luentoja Helsingin historiasta* [The image of the capital: lectures on the history of Helsinki]. Helsinki: City Museum of Helsinki, Memoria 14, 107–127.
- HS 12.9.2011 (2011) Dopingrikokset yleistyneet, rangaistuksena usein sakkoja [Doping crime on the increase, often punished by fine]. http://m.hs.fi/inf/ infomo?site=hs&view=news_kotimaa_child&feed:a=hs.fi&feed:c=news&feed :i=1135269278773 (Cited 12.9.2011).
- Järvi, Ulla (2011) *Media terveyden lähteillä: miten sairaus ja terveys rakentuvat 2000-luvun mediassa* [Media at the fountains of health: how illness and health are constructed in the 21st century media]. University of Jyväskylä, studies in humanities 150, 1459–4323.
- Kaarninen, Pekka (2008) Doping voittaa aina. Kielletyt keinot kautta aikojen [Doping always wins. Illegal methods throughout the time]. Helsinki: Minerva.

Mikko Salasuo & Mikko Piispa



- Kainulainen, Heini (2011): *Rangaistuskäytäntö dopingrikoksissa* [Sanctions practice in doping related crimes]. Helsinki: National research institute of legal policy, Research communications 110.
- Karila, Tuomo (2003) Adverse effects of anabolic androgenic steroids on the cardiovascular, metabolic and reproductive systems of anabolic substance abusers. University of Helsinki, Institute of biomedicine. Doctoral dissertation.
- Keane, Helen (2009) Sport, health and steroids: contradiction or ethical self-formation? In Alex Broom & Philip Tovey (eds.) *Men's health; body, identity and social context*. United Kingdom: Wiley-Blackwell, 163–181.
- Ketokivi, Kaisa (2004) Pidentynyt nuoruus ja perheen perustaminen. Individualistisen elämänorientaation jäljillä [Prolonged youth and establishing a family. In search of individualistic life orientation]. *Sosiologia* 41:2, 94–107.
- Kinnunen, Essi (2003) Dopingrikokset rikoslakiin uusin asein dopingvastaiseen taisteluun? [Doping crimes into Penal Code New arms in the fight against doping?] Lakimies 101:2, 229–253.
- Kinnunen, Taina (2001a) *Pyhät bodarit. Yhteisöllisyys ja onni täydellisessä ruumiissa* [Holy bodybuilders. Sense of community and happiness in a perfect body]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus.
- Kinnunen, Taina (2001b) Ruumiiden ja tilojen kohtaaminen kuntosalilla ja aerobicissa [Bodies and spaces coming across at gyms and aerobic]. In Anne Puuronen & Raili Välimaa (eds.) *Nuori ruumis* [Young body]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus & Finnish youth research society, 121–136.
- Kivinen, Osmo & Piiroinen, Tero (2007) Realismista ja pragmatismista yhteiskuntatieteissä [On realism and pragmatism in social sciences]. *Sosiologia* 44:2, 250–252.
- Klaukka, Timo (1999) Lääkettä terveille [Drugs for the healthy]. Suomen lääkärilehti 54:28, 3386–3387.
- Korte, Taimi & Pykäläinen, Jaana & Lillsunde, Pirjo & Seppälä, Timo (1996) Huumausaineita ja rauhoittavia lääkkeitä käytetään runsaasti vankiloissa [Illegal drugs and tranquillizers widely used in prisons]. *Kansanterveys-lehti* 10/1996, 9–10.
- Koski, Pasi (2005) Nordic sports around the bottle. In Alberto Bouroncle & Sari Rauhamäki (ed.) *Sport and substance use in the Nordic countries*. Helsinki: NAD publications 45, 5–14.
- Kunttu, Kristina & Huttunen, Teppo (2004) Yliopisto-opiskelijoiden terveystutkimus 2004 [Health survey on university students 2004]. Helsinki: Finnish student health service, Research 40.
- Kunttu, Kristina & Huttunen, Teppo (2008) Korkeakouluopiskelijoiden terveystutkimus 2008 [Health survey on university and polytechnical students 2008]. Helsinki: Finnish student health service, Research 45.
- Kvale, Steinar (1996) Interviews: an introduction to qualitative research interviewing. London: Sage.
- Lahelma, Eero (2003) Medikalisaation juurilta nykypäivään [From the roots of medicalization to the present]. *Duodecim* 119:19, 1863–1868.
- Leppäharju, Timo (2011) *Dopinghistoria* [History of doping]. Http://www.antidoping.fi/view.cfm?page=A18F23ED-3C04-4EAF-AECE-925A5BD3ADEF&articleid=d19e0a41-a02f-4be4-aa55-c075fd83e086. (Cited 1.9.2011.)

- Lidman, Satu (2011) *Häpeä. Nöyryyttämisen ja häpeän jäljillä* [Shame. Tracing humiliation and shame]. Helsinki: Atena.
- Lucke, Jayne & Bell, Stephanie & Partridge, Bradley & Hall, Wayne (2011) Academic doping or Viagra for the brain? The history of recreational drug use and pharmacological enhancement can provide insight into these uses of neuropharmaceuticals. EMBO reports 12:3, 197–201.
- Maffesoli, Michel (1996) *The contemplation of the world: figures of community style.* Minneapolis: Minnesota university press.
- Maloff, Deborah & Becker, Howard & Fonaroff, Arlene & Rodin, Judith (1979) Informal Social Controls and Their Influence on Substance Use. *Journal of drug issues*, 9:2, 161–183.
- Majava, Aino (2005) *Huumekuviot internetissä. Psychonaut-hankkeen tutkimustuloksia* [Drug scene in internet. Results of the Psychonaut project]. A-clinic foundation, duplicate series 51.
- Mattila, Ville & Parkkari, Jari & Laakso, Lauri & Pihlajamäki, Harri & Rimpelä, Arja (2009) Use of dietary supplements and anabolic-androgenic steroids among Finnish adolescents in 1991–2005. *European Journal of Public Health* 20:3, 306–311.
- Mattila, Ville & Jormanainen, Vesa & Rimpelä, Arja & Sahi, Timo & Pihlajamäki, Harri (2010) Anabolic-androgenic steroid use among young Finnish males. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science* 20:2, 330.
- McKillop, G. & Ballantyne, D. (1987) Lipoprotein analysis in bodybuilders. *International journal of cardiology* 17:3, 281–288.
- Monaghan, Lee (2001) Bodybuilding, drugs and risk. London & New York: Routledge.
- MOT 2011 (2011) Varjele meitä douppaamiselta [Protect us from doping]. Magazine program 31.10.2011, Yle TV 1.
- Myllyniemi, Sami (2009) *Aika vapaalla. Nuorten vapaa-aikatutkimus 2009* [Time off. Study on spare time of the young 2009]. Finnish youth research society, publication 92.
- Newman, David (2008) *Sociology. Exploring the architecture of everyday life.* California: Pine Forge Press.
- Nutt, David & King, Leslie A. & Philips, Lawrence D. (2010) Drug harms in the UK: a multicriteria decision analysis. *Lancet* 376:9752, 1558–1565.
- Paajanen, Minna (2008) Dopingin käyttö järjestäytyneen urheilun ulkopuolella [Use of doping outside organized sports]. Helsinki: Ministry of Education, internal publication 2008:4.
- Pirkola, Sami & Seppälä, Timo (2005) Huumausaineiden ja anabolisten hormonien käyttö [Use of illegal drugs and anabolic hormones]. In Seppo Koskinen & Laura Kestilä & Tuija Martelin & Arpo Aromaa (eds.) Nuorten aikuisten terveys. Terveys 2000 -tutkimuksen perustulokset 18–29-vuotiaiden terveydestä ja siihen liittyvistä tekijöistä [Health of young adults. Basic outcome of the Health 2000 -survey on the health and related issues of young adults]. Helsinki: National institute for health and welfare, publication B7/2005, 65–70.
- Pope, Harrison G. Jr & Phillips, Catharine A. & Olivardia, Roberto (2000) *The adonis complex: how to identify, treat, and prevent body obsession in men and boys.* New York: The Free Press.
- Pound, Richard (2006) Inside Dope. How drugs are the biggest threat to sports, why you should care, and what can be done about them. Ontario: Wiley.



- Putnam, Robert D. (2000) *Bowling alone. The collapse and revival of American community.*New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Puuronen, Anne (2004) Rasvan tyttäret. Etnografinen tutkimus anorektisen kokemustiedon kulttuurisesta jäsentymisestä [Daughters of fat. Etnographic research on cultural organization of experiential anorectic knowledge]. Helsinki: Finnish youth research society, publication 42.
- Raevuori, Anu (2009) Male eating disorders and related traits. Genetic epidemiological study in Finnish twins. University of Helsinki, Faculty of medicine. Doctoral dissertation.
- Rantala, Kati (2002) *Utopioista todellisuuteen huumeiden käytön virtuaaliutopiat* [From utopias to reality. Virtual utopias of illegal drug use]. Mediumi 1.2.2002. Http://www.m-cult.net/mediumi/article.html?id=45. (Cited 20.7.2011.)
- RL 44 luku. *Suomen rikoslain 44 luku*: terveyttä ja turvallisuutta vaarantavista rikoksista [Penal Code, Chapter 44: on crimes endangering health and safety].
- Roos, J.P. (1988) *Elämäntavasta elämäkertaan* [From lifestyle to biography]. Helsinki: Tutkijaliitto.
- Ryynänen, Olli-Pekka & Kinnunen, Juha & Myllykangas, Markku & Lammintakanen, Johanna & Kuusi, Osmo (2004) *Suomen terveydenhuollon tulevaisuudet. Skenaariot ja strategiat palvelujärjestelmän turvaamiseksi. Esiselvitys* [Futures of the Finnish health care. Scenarios and strategies for securing the public service]. Helsinki: Secretary of parliament, publication 8/2004.
- Salasuo, Mikko (1999) Ensimmäinen huumeaalto Helsingissä: kannabisalakulttuurin synty, kehitys ja muodot vuosina 1962–1975 [First drug wave in Helsinki: the emergence, evolution and forms of the cannabis subculture in 1962–1975. University of Helsinki, Section of social science history. Master's thesis.
- Salasuo, Mikko (2004a) Huumeet ajankuvana huumeiden viihdekäytön kulttuurinen ilmeneminen Suomessa [Drugs as a picture of the times: cultural manifestation of recreational drug use in Finland]. Helsinki: Stakes, research 149.
- Salasuo, Mikko & Piispa, Mikko (2012) Kuntodoping. Näkökulmia dopingaineiden käyttöön huippu-urheilun ulkopuolella [Fitness doping. Perspectives in the use of doping outside elite sports]. Helsinki: Finnish youth research society, publication 120.
- Salospohja, Tuuli (2008) "Tiukkaa lihhoo". Dopingaineiden käyttö kuntosaliharrastajien keskuudessa Suomessa ["Firm flesh". Use of doping among gym goers in Finland]. University of Turku, Department of sociology. Licenciate thesis.
- Santalahti, Jussi & Miettinen, Sami & Alaranta, Antti (2007) Asenteet urheilussa kiellettyjä aineita ja menetelmiä kohtaan [Attitudes towards prohibited substances and methods in sports]. In Antti Alaranta & Juha Hulmi & Joonas Mikkonen & Jari Rossi & Antti Mero (eds.) Lääkkeet ja lisäaineet urheilussa. Suorituskykyyn ja kehon koostumukseen vaikuttavat aineet [Medicines and additives in sports. Substances affecting performance and body composition]. Helsinki: NutriMed, 87–107.
- Seppälä, Pauliina & Salasuo, Mikko (2001) Aaltoja vai vedenpinnan pysyvää nousua? [Waves or permanent water level rise?] *Yhteiskuntapolitiikka* 66:1, 71–75.
- Seppälä, Timo & Karila, Tuomo (1993) Hormonien käyttö urheilussa on uhkapeliä terveydellä [Use of hormones in sports is gambling with health]. *Liikunta & Tiede* 6/1993, 6–11.

- Seppälä, Timo & Karila, Tuomo (1996) Suorituskykyyn vaikuttavien aineiden väärinkäyttö [Misuse of performance enhancing substances]. *Käytännön lääkäri* 1996/3, 129–135.
- Simola, Hannu (2001) Koulutuspolitiikka ja erinomaisuuden eetos [Education policy and the ethos of excellence]. *Kasvatus* 32:3, 290–297.
- Sulkunen, Pekka (1997). Addiktio alkoholismi maallikkoajattelussa [Addiction. Alcoholism in lay thinking]. In Pekka Sulkunen & Jukka Törrönen (eds.) Semioottisen sosiologian näkökulmia [Perspectives in semiotic sociology]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus, 195–220
- Sulkunen, Pekka (2003) *Johdatus sosiologiaan käsitteitä ja näkökulmia* [Introduction to sociology. Concepts and perspectives]. Helsinki: WSOY.
- Sulkunen, Pekka (2009) The saturated society. Regulating risk & lifestyle in a consumer culture. London: Sage.
- Taninnen, Liisa (2008) Doping by Fitness Exercisers a Quiet Contagion. *Motion Sports in Finland* 2/2008, 36–37.
- Thornton, Sarah (1995) *Club cultures: music, media and subcultural capital.* London: Polity. Thiel, Darren (2007) Class in construction: London building workers, dirty work and physical cultures. *British journal of sociology* 58:2, 227–251.
- Toiviainen; Hanna (2007) Konsumerismi, potilaiden ja kuluttajien aktiivinen toiminta sekä erityisesti lääkäreiden kokemukset ja näkemykset potilaista kuluttajina [Consumerism, activity of patients and consumers and particularly doctors' experiences and views on patients as consumers]. Helsinki: Stakes, research 160.
- Toivonen, Timo & Räsänen, Pekka (2004) Kulutus ja elämäntapa [Spending and lifestyle]. In Ismo Kantola, Keijo Koskinen & Pekka Räsänen (eds.) *Sosiologisia karttalehtiä* [Sociological mapping]. Jyväskylä: Gummerus, 233–248.
- Tricker, R. & O'Neill, M. R., Cook, D. (1989) The incidence of anabolic steroid use among competitive bodybuilders. *Journal of drug education* 19:4, 313-325.
- Tulloch, John & Lupton, Deborah (2003) Risk and Everyday Life. London: Sage.
- Tuomainen, Raimo & Myllykangas, Markku & Ryynänen, Olli-Pekka (1999) *Medikalisaatio. Aikamme sairaus* [Medicalization. Illness of our time]. Tampere: Vastapaino.
- Törrönen, Jukka (2006) Toisen ääni, näkökulma ja kohteena oleminen [The other: voice, view and being an object]. In Sakari Hänninen & Jouko Karjalainen & Tuukka Lahti (eds.) *Toinen tieto* [Other knowledge]. Helsinki: Stakes, 15–37.
- Verroken, Michelle (2005) Drug use and abuse in sports. In David Mottram (eds.) *Drugs in sports*. London: Routledge, 18–55.
- Vettenniemi, Erkki (2010) Miksi doping kiellettiin 1928? IAAF, piristeet ja rotu-uskomusten voima [Why was doping banned in 1928? IAAF, stimulants, and power of racial beliefs]. *Liikunta & Tiede* 47:6, 24–29.
- Vilkko, Anni (2000) Elämänkulku ja elämänkulkukerronta [Course of life and narrating it]. In Eino Heikkinen & Jouni Tuomi (eds.) *Suomalainen elämäkulku* [Finnish course of life]. Helsinki: Tammi, 74–85.
- Välimaa, Raija (2001) Nuoret ja ulkonäön merkitys [Youth and the importance of looks]. In Anne Puuronen & Raija Välimaa (eds.) *Nuori ruumis* [Young body]. Helsinki: Gaudeamus, 89–106.



- Waddington, Ivan (2000) Sport, health and drugs: a critical sociological perspective. London: E & FN Spon.
- Weber, Max (2002, [1904]) *The protestant ethic and the spirit of capitalism.* London: Blackwell.
- Yesalis, Charles & Courson, Stephen & Wright, James (1993) History of anabolic steroids and exercise. In Charles Yesalis (eds.) *Anabolic steroids in sports and execise*. USA: Human kinetics.
- Ylikangas, Mikko (2009): *Unileipää, kuolonvettä, spiidiä. Huumeet Suomessa 1800–1950* [Sleep bread, death water, speed. Drugs in Finland 1800–1950]. Jyväskylä: Atena.
- Zinberg, Norman & Harding, Wayne (1979). Control and intoxicant use. A theoretical and practical overview. *Journal of Drug Issues* 9:2, 121–143.
- Zola, Irving (1972) Medicine as an institution of social control. *Sociological Review* 20:4, 487–504.

About the Authors

Adjunct professor, Ph.D. Mikko Salasuo is a senior researcher at the Finnish Youth Research Society. He has published and co-published several books on youth culture, drug issues and other youth related topics. Salasuo has also written several articles to Finnish and international journals and edited seven anthologies.

M.Pol.Sc. Mikko Piispa is a junior researcher at the Finnish Youth Research Society. He has written and co-written several articles and reports on drug issues and doping in Finland.

The debate on doping use outside professional sports in Finland got in full swing in September 2007, when the then Minister of Culture and Sports Stefan Wallin expressed his concern about doping use becoming more common outside professional sports. He even questioned whether doping use was becoming a national disease. Wallin's question has remained unanswered, and the debate on doping outside professional sports has mostly relied on stereotypes and false information.

The use of doping outside professional sports cannot be regarded as deceit or breaking the moral values of sports. The international and sport-related anti-doping rules are made to regulate various sport events, not individual drug use. This distinction is further emphasized by non-criminalization of the use and possession of doping substances in Finland.